FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/20/2020 4:00 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98925-7

COA No. 52405-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BLESS CHIECHI,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER B. TILLER Attorney for Petitioner

THE TILLER LAW FIRM 118 N Rock St P. O. Box 58 Centralia, Washington 98531 (360) 736-9301

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Bless Chiechi, appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review that is designated in part B of this petition.

B. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

Chiechi seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Chiechi*, cause number 52405-8-II, filed July 21, 2020. A copy of the decision is contained in Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-13.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Chiechi has a Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Should this Court accept review where Chichi was deprived of his right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 when his attorney agreed to a "first aggressor" jury instruction?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. **Procedural history:**

Cheichi appealed his conviction for first degree assault in *State v. Chiechi*, No. 52405-8-II, 2020 WL 4194608, (Wash. Ct. App. July 21, 2020) (unpublished). The State charged Chiechi with one count of first-degree assault with a deadly weapon enhancement of Barry Bernand following an incident on August 27, 2017.

On that date, at a gathering at a house with several other people, Chiechi and another man were arguing. 2RP at 203-04. Chiechi challenged another man—Barry Bernard—to a fight and went outside and "threw punches at each other," and Bernard was holding Chiechi down, and then released Chiechi, who then ran to his house, located about a block and half away. 2RP at 207-08.

Bernard stated that while standing outside, Chiechi had returned, and when Bernard turned, Chiechi hit him twice on the left side of his head with a baseball bat. 2RP at 208. He stated that he tried to hit him a third time, which he blocked with his left arm and then was hit again on his legs, and then on the right side of his head. 2RP at 209. He stated that after that "we fought again," and that he "left because his wife was saying she was going to call the cops." 2RP at 210.

Another witness said that Bernard had 'had hold of' Chiechi as they went down the sidewalk toward Chiechi's house. 2RP at 231. He said that both of them were on ground, and then got up, and that this took place close to Chiechi's house. 2RP at 237.

Chiechi told police that Bernard started the fight and that Bernard was intoxicated, but that Chiechi was not. 3RP at 330. The officer stated that Chiechi said that he was trying to go home, and that Bernard followed him and grabbed Chiechi's hair. 3RP at 335. The officer stated that Chiechi told him that Bernard had him in a headlock until they got to the carport at

Chiechi's house, which is about a block and half from 710 South Fourth Avenue. 3RP at 335. He told the officer that he was able to get a miniature baseball bat out of his car and that he used it to hit Bernard six times. 3RP at 330, 341. Officer Gower said that Chiechi told him that he used the bat to hit Bernard once in the leg, twice on his body and three times in the head. 3RP at 330.

Chiechi said that Bernard was aggressive to him, telling him that he wanted to fight. 3RP at 382. He stated that he told the uncle of Bernard to calm him down, but he did not listen to his uncle and Chiechi then left the house to avoid fighting. 3RP at 383. Bernard followed Chiechi back to Chiechi's house, and then grabbed and pulled his hair from behind, which he wore in a ponytail at the time. 3RP at 383. Bernard held Chiechi so that he could not turn around, and then pushed him toward the grass while walking to Chiechi's house. 3RP at 384. He stated that he told Bernard to stop fighting and that he did not push him "because I didn't want to fight." 3RP at 385.

Bernard was holding his hair with one hand and then started punching him with the other hand, and as they got closer to his house--- while Bernard was still holding his hair in one hand--- Chiechi was able to reach his remote keylock to open his car, which was parked on the street, and retrieve a small metal bat from his car. 3RP at 385. Chiechi used the bat to hit Bernard on the legs. 3RP at 385-86. Bernard released his grip on

Chiechi's ponytail and left but came back about three minutes later with a two-handled metal cutter, which he used to hit Chiechi. 3RP at 386. Chiechi hit him with the bat "[t]o protect me from being injured." 3RP at 388-89. After hitting Bernard, Bernard ran toward Chiechi's car and Chiechi hit him again. 3RP at 389-90.

The State proposed a first aggressor jury instruction. Defense counsel did not object to the instruction and agreed that the instruction correctly stated the law.

Chiechi appeals his judgment and sentence and argued for the first time on appeal that the trial court erred by giving a first aggressor instruction and that counsel was ineffective by failing to object to the first aggressor instruction.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions, holding that the trial court correctly instructed the jury on the State's proposed first aggressor instruction because the evidence supported giving the instruction that and Chiechi was not deprived of effective assistance of counsel. Slip. op. at *1.

Chiechi now petitions this Court for discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The considerations that govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Petitioner believes that this court should accept review of these issues because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict

with other decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)).

1. REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND THE CONVICTION REVERSED BECAUSE MR. CHIECHI WAS DEPRIVED OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO THE ASSISTANCE **EFFECTIVE OF** COUNSEL RESPECT WITH SELF-DEFENSE TO INSTRUCTION

The State presented evidence that Chiechi hit Bernard in self-defense. Therefore, the parties agreed the court should instruct the jury on the lawful use of force in self-defense, and the court gave the following instruction:

It is a defense to a charge of assault in first or second degree that the force used was lawful as defined in this instruction.

The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used by a person who reasonably believes that he is about to be injured in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than is necessary.

The use of force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used in preventing or attempting to prevent a malicious trespass or other maliciousness interference with real or personal property lawfully in that person's possession, and when the force is not more than is necessary.

The person using the force may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of and prior to the incident.

The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the force used by the defendant was not lawful. If you find that the State has not proved the absence of this defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

But the parties also agreed the court should provide a "first aggressor" instruction,

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense and thereupon, use, offer or attempt to use force upon or toward another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant was the aggressor, and that [the] defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense is not available as a defense.

CP at 89; Chiechi, slip. op. at *2.

Every accused person enjoys the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; CONST. art. 1, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). That right is violated when (1) defense counsel's performance was deficient and *6 (2) that deficiency prejudiced the accused. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26.

As to the first inquiry (performance), an attorney renders constitutionally inadequate representation when he or she engages in conduct for which there is no legitimate strategic or tactical basis. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 1251 (1998). A decision is not permissibly tactical or strategic if it is not reasonable. *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). "Reasonable conduct for an attorney includes carrying out the duty to

research the relevant law." *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009) (reversing where counsel proposed an incorrect self-defense instruction).

As to the second inquiry (prejudice), if there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's inadequate performance, the result would have been different, prejudice is established and reversal is required. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). A reasonable probability "is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). It is a lower standard than the "more likely than not" standard. *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226.

Here review should be accepted because Chiechi was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel with respect to self-defense instructions. Specifically, it was unreasonable to agree to a "first aggressor" instruction.

a. The "first aggressor" instruction should not have been given.

The Washington Supreme Court recently held in *State v. Grott*, 195 Wn.2d 256, 268-69, 458 P.3d 750 (2020), that not all erroneously given aggressor instructions are errors of constitutional magnitude. An aggressor instruction is "used to explain to the jury one way in which the State may meet its burden: by proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant

provoked the need to act in self-defense." *Id.* at 268. If the jury is properly instructed on self-defense, the defendant is not prevented from arguing self-defense, and because the aggressor instruction properly holds the State to its burden of proof by requiring the jury to "find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight," the giving of an instruction is not an error of constitutional magnitude. *Id.* at 268-69.

Here, trial counsel did not object to the instruction at trial. To bring this claim for the first time on appeal, Chiechi must therefore show that allowing this testimony was a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). "Application of RAP 2.5(a)(3) depends on the answers to two questions: '(1) Has the party claiming error shown the error is truly of a constitutional magnitude, and if so, (2) has the party demonstrated that the error is manifest?" " *Grott*, 195 Wn.2d at 267 (quoting *State v. Kalebaugh*, 183 Wn.2d 578, 583, 355 P.3d 253 (2015)). The defendant must make a plausible showing that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences at trial. *Grott*, 195 Wn.2d at 269. To make this determination, " 'the appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error.' "*Id.* (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wash.2d

91, 100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

"The use of force is lawful and justified where the defendant has a subjective, reasonable belief of imminent harm from the [alleged] victim.".

Grott, 195 Wn.2d at 266 (internal quotations omitted). Where there is evidence of self-defense, the state has the burden to prove the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id*.

Although "the right of self-defense cannot be successfully invoked by an aggressor or one who provokes an altercation[,]" the first aggressor jury instruction "impacts a defendant's claim of self-defense, so courts should use care in giving an aggressor instruction." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). In cases where a single act was the basis for the charged offense, that single aggressive act cannot support a first aggressor instruction. *Id.* at 272. "Thus, where a defendant who is charged for firing a single shot claims self-defense, that shot cannot, in itself, support a first aggressor instruction." *Grott*, 195 Wn.2d at 272 (citing *State v. Wasson*, 54 Wn. App. 156, 159, 772 P.2d 1039 (1989)).

Because a first aggressor instruction potentially removes self-defense from the jury's consideration and relieves the State of its burden of proving that a defendant did not act in self-defense, the instruction should be given only "sparingly and carefully." *State v. Bea*, 162 Wn. App. 570, 576-77, 254

P.3d 948 (2011). Indeed, there are "few situations" in which the instruction is warranted. *State v. Arthur*, 42 Wn. App. 120, 125 n.1, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985). "[T]heories of the case can be sufficiently argued and understood by the jury without such instruction." *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 910 n. 2, 976 P.2d 624 (1999) (citing *Arthur*, 42 Wn. App. at 125 n. 1). To warrant a first aggressor instruction, there must be "credible evidence" that the defendant provoked the use of force, including provoking an attack that necessitates the defendant's use of force in self-defense." *State v. Douglas*, 128 Wn. App. 555, 562-63, 116 P.3d 1012 (2005) (citing *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 910-11).

In *Grott*, the defendant had been discharged from the Marines in December 2012, possibly with post-traumatic stress disorder. Almost three years later, in August 2015, *Grott* accused Julian Thomas of stealing his handgun. On October 31, 2015, an intoxicated *Grott* angrily confronted Thomas' sister and may have threatened to kill Thomas. A short time later, a gunshot was fired into *Grott's* home, almost striking him. Thomas took credit for the shooting. Three months later, on February 1, 2016, *Grott* shot Thomas multiple times as the latter sat in his car at a convenience store. Thomas was struck nine times. A total of 48 shell casings were recovered from the scene. A loaded gun with the safety off was found underneath Thomas' body inside

his car. Id. at 261-263. *Grott* was convicted of murder in the second degree and seven counts of assault in the first degree. Id. at 265. Although Grott had failed to preserve the issue for appeal, the Supreme Court accepted review "in order to further clarify the law governing first aggressor instructions." Grott, 195 Wn.2d at 270. The Court acknowledged that although some appellate courts have looked with disfavor on first-aggressor instructions, "[t]his court has never held that first aggressor instructions are broadly disfavored, and we do not do so today." Id. at 271. Such instructions "are disfavored only where they are not justified." Id. The Grott court emphasized that the question of whether a first-aggressor instruction should be given is a fact-specific, case-by-case determination. This counters lower court opinions that "have expressed a bright-line rule that the alleged act of first aggression cannot 'be the actual assault' with which the defendant is charged." Id. Instead, such a rule does not apply "where the defendant engaged in a course of aggressive conduct, rather than a single aggressive act." Id. The Grott court rejected the argument that every shot fired by Grott was part of the actual assault itself and therefore could not constitute the provoking act necessary to support giving the first-aggressor instruction; i.e., a requirement "that Grott made an intentional act before the shooting." Id. at 273 (emphasis original). Rather, the Supreme Court concluded, "Grott

engaged in a course of aggressive conduct, firing 48 shots over the course of several minutes and pausing to reload multiple times." Id. Even though Thomas was found with a loaded handgun underneath his body, the jury could reasonably conclude that he was reacting to the initial volley of shots from *Grott*. If *Grott*, having seen Thomas' reaction, continued to fire in response, self-defense was not legally available to him and the jury was properly instructed. Id. at 273-274.

Here, the events were initially as part of an on-going assault by Bernard and therefore cannot support a first-aggressor instruction. The evidence presented at trial did not established that Chiechi attempted to provoke Bernard.

In any case, the provoking act must be intentional and one that a "jury could reasonably assume would provoke a belligerent response by the victim." *State v. Wasson*, 54 Wn. App. 156, 159, 772 P.2d 1039 (1989) (citing *Arthur*, 42 Wn. App. at 124). The provoking act must be related to the eventual assault as to which self-defense is claimed. Id. However, the provoking act cannot be the actual assault. *Bea*, 162 Wn. App. at 577 (citing *State v. Kidd*, 57 Wn. App. 95, 100, 786 P.2d 847 (1990)).

Here, the testimony shows a plethora of aggressive acts by Bernard against Chiechi, first by following Chiechi outside of the house, pulling his

hair, and that they "threw punches at each other." 2RP at 207, 3RP at 383. During this attack, Chiechi was able to get to his car to get a bat and hit Bernard. 3RP at 385. Bernard left and then returned with metal shears and hit Chiechi, who then hit Bernard after being hit with the shears. 3RP at 386. The evidence shows, at best, initial mutual combat and then Chiechi hit him with a bat while still being restrained by Bernard, and then hitting Bernadrd again only after Bernard hit him with the metal shears. Accordingly, the first aggressor instruction should not have been given.

The facts of this case are different from those in *Grott*. There, the defendant "fired several shots before [the victim] even realized *Grott* was there." *Grott*, 195 Wn.2d at 273. And although the victim eventually pulled out his own gun and turned to face his attacker, this was "sometime after *Grott* began shooting." *Id.* "*Grott* engaged in a course of aggressive conduct, firing 48 shots over the course of several minutes and pausing to reload multiple times." *Id.* Thus, it was proper in that case to give the jury the first aggressor instruction. *Id.* at 273-74.

In contrast, in *State v. Wasson*, a fight broke out with multiple people, and the alleged victim "turned and took several rapid steps toward Mr. Wasson, whereupon Mr. Wasson shot him in the chest." *Wasson*, 54 Wn. App. at 157. The State charged him with assault, and the trial court

instructed the jury on self-defense but also gave a first aggressor instruction. *Id.* at 157-58. Division Three reversed and remanded for retrial without an aggressor instruction. *Id.* at 161. The court explained: "there is no evidence that Mr. Wasson acted intentionally to provoke an assault from Mr. Reed. In fact, there is evidence Mr. Wasson never initiated any act toward Mr. Reed until the final assault." Id. at 159; see also *Grott*, 195 Wn.2d at 272 (endorsing *Wasson*).

An error is "manifest" under RAP 2.5(a)(3), if it is "plausible" that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756, 761 (2009). In determining whether the error was identifiable, the trial record must be sufficient to determine the merits of the claim. *Id.* "To determine whether an error is practical and identifiable, the appellate court must place itself in the shoes of the trial court to ascertain whether, given what the trial court knew at that time, the court could have corrected the error." *Id.* at 100.

Here, like in *Wasson* and unlike in *Grott*, the evidence showed Bernard engaged in assaultive acts against Chiechi, who managed to get a bat and hit Bernard, whereupon Bernard returned and hit him with metal shears. Chiechi was prejudiced by the instructions. "It is not enough that the Defendant allege prejudice—actual prejudice must appear in the record."

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Although Chiechi was able to argue a theory of self-defense, he was also laboring under the first aggressor instruction, which the prosecution used to urge rejection of the self-defense claim because he was the first aggressor. 4RP at 458-59. The State argued:

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