FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/18/2020 9:10 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98925-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BLESS CHIECHI,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN P. JURVAKAINEN Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney

ERIC H. BENTSON, WSBA #38471 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney
Hall of Justice
312 SW First Avenue
Kelso, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H.

Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz

County Prosecuting Attorney.

II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of the July 21, 2020, unpublished Court of Appeals' opinion in *State of Washington v. Bless Chiechi*, Court of Appeals No. 52405-8-II.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the Court of Appeals' decision that found giving the aggressor instruction was not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right raise a significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b)(3)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Berry Bernard came to America from Micronesia and eventually settled in Kelso, Washington, where he worked at Foster Farms. RP 197-98. On August 26, 2017, Bernard was at his cousin's house at 710 Fourth Street in Kelso. RP 198-99. Bernard was drinking beer at the house along with a group of men that included Bless Chiechi. RP 202. Chiechi and a man named Cassidy had an argument. RP 202. Chiechi became angry, and using "strong language," threatened Cassidy. RP 203-04.

Bernard told Chiechi not to cause problems at Cassidy's house. RP 205. Chiechi told Bernard not to say anything. RP 205. Chiechi called Bernard a mother f***er and challenged Bernard to fight outside. RP 206. Both Bernard and Chiechi went outside. RP 206. Outside, Chiechi and Bernard threw punches at each other. RP 207. Bernard got Chiechi into a hold. RP 207. Eventually, Bernard let Chiechi go. RP 208. Chiechi ran to his house, which was about a block away. RP 206, 208.

Bernard remained on the sidewalk then headed for his brother's house. RP 208. Chiechi obtained a metal baseball bat. RP 208-09. From behind Bernard, Chiechi called Bernard's name and said stop. RP 208. The two men came together. RP 233. Chiechi struck Bernard on the left side of the head two times with the bat. RP 208-09. Chiechi attempted to strike Bernard a third time in the head, but Bernard blocked the bat with his left arm. RP 209. Chiechi struck Bernard in the leg with the bat. RP 209-10. Chiechi then struck Bernard on the right side of the head with the bat. RP 209-10. Chiechi struck Bernard a sixth time with the bat on the right leg. RP 209.

Mike Saito observed the latter portion of the first fight and the entirety of the second fight. RP 231-33. Saito testified when he observed the men outside, Bernard had a hold of Chiechi's hair. RP 231. After Saito told Bernard to let Chiechi go, he did so. RP 232. Saito observed Chiechi

run away and retrieve the metal baseball bat from his car at his house. RP 232. Saito observed Chiechi and Bernard come together. RP 233. Chiechi had a weapon. RP 233. Bernard did not. RP 233. Saito observed Chiechi strike Bernard six times with the bat. RP 233. After being struck in the head, legs, and arms, Bernard was able to take the bat away from Chiechi and throw it. RP 233.

The blows to Bernard's head caused swelling that was wide and oblong to both sides of his head. RP 256, 272. Bernard went to his wife's house and 911 was called. RP 211. Bernard was transported by ambulance to St. John Medical Center in Longview. RP 273. The injuries to his head were located near his temples and were of significant mass. RP 296-97. A CT scan revealed a large hematoma to the left side of Bernard's head and a subarachnoid hemorrhage. RP 299. Because Bernard's internal bleeding risked displacing brain tissue, it put his life at risk. RP 300-02. Bernard was transferred to Southwest Washington Medical Center, to be seen by a neurosurgeon. 304-05.

Chiechi was charged with assault in the first degree with a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 12-13. Several of the witnesses testified at trial, including Bernard. RP 197-244, 253-407. Chiechi also testified. RP 379-401.

Chiechi testified that he had gone over to the house to see Cassidy. RP 380. Chiechi said he was drinking with Bernard and the other men that were there. RP 381. Chiechi said Bernard challenged him to fight. RP 381-82. Chiechi claimed he exited the house to avoid Bernard. RP 383. Chiechi claimed Bernard followed him, then pulled his hair from behind, while they were walking on the sidewalk. RP 383. Chiechi said Bernard held him so he was unable to turn. RP 384. Chiechi said Bernard pushed him to the grass. RP 384. Chiechi claimed Bernard continued to hold his hair while they walked to Chiechi's house. RP 384-85.

Chiechi claimed that as they got closer to his house, Bernard was holding his hair with one hand and used the other to punch him. RP 385. Chiechi claimed while this occurred he was able to open his locked car door and retrieve an aluminum bat from inside. RP 385. Chiechi testified that he hit Bernard with the bat in the legs, causing Bernard to release his hair. RP 385-86. Chiechi said Bernard left and returned with a metal cutter with two handles. RP 386. Chiechi claimed Bernard struck him with the metal cutter. RP 388. Chiechi claimed he then warned Bernard if he had to injure him he would not be breaking the law because he was at his house. RP 388. Chiechi testified that after being hit, he struck Bernard. RP 389. Chiechi said Bernard then ran to Chiechi's car in an effort to strike it. RP 389.

Chiechi said he then struck Bernard in the head because Bernard had struck him with the cutter and said he would damage his car. RP 389-90.

Chiechi's testimony contradicted what he had originally told Detective Tim Gower. RP 329-32. Chiechi told Detective Gower, Bernard wanted to fight, so he went to his car, retrieved a baseball bat, and struck Bernard six times. RP 330. Chiechi told Detective Gower, that Bernard did not have a weapon when he was striking him with the bat. RP 330. Chiechi told Detective Gower that after he had struck Bernard once in the leg, twice in the body, and three times in the head, Bernard ran away. RP 330. Chiechi told Detective Gower that after this Bernard returned with pruning sheers and swung them at him, missed, and left. RP 331.

The State proposed the aggressor jury instruction as part of the law on use of force. RP 410. The court inquired as to whether Chiechi was objecting to that instruction. RP 410. Chiechi's attorney told the court: "I think it states the law correctly." RP 410. Chiechi did not object to the aggressor instruction. RP 410. During his closing argument, Chiechi's attorney argued Chiechi's use of the bat as a weapon was lawful because Bernard was the aggressor. RP 464-80.

Chiechi challenged the aggressor instruction for the first time on appeal. Slip Opinion at 1. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction finding that because the evidence supported giving the aggressor instruction, Chiechi did not suffer a manifest error affecting a constitutional right, and his attorney was not ineffective. Slip Opinion at 1, 9-10.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Because Chiechi's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Chiechi appears to argue that the Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States under RAP 13.4(b)(3). His argument does not claim, or even suggest, any other grounds under RAP 13.4(b).

Chiechi petitions for review arguing he suffered ineffective assistance of counsel. Chiechi reasons that his attorney's failure to object was based on a misunderstanding of the law, therefore it was not a legitimate trial tactic. Chiechi acknowledges that he cannot raise an issue

for the first time on appeal unless he can show a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

As explained by the Court of Appeals, because the instruction was appropriate, Chiechi did not suffer a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. With regard to ineffective assistance of counsel, because there was no error, an objection to the instruction would have failed. Additionally, Chiechi's attorney used the aggressor instruction to argue his theory of the case, and therefore had a legitimate tactical reason for agreeing the instruction should be given. Because Chiechi fails to raise a constitutional issue, his petition does not meet any of the criteria required for review under RAP 13.4(b).

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' OPINION DOES NOT INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

Because the Court of Appeals' opinion did not involve a significant question of constitutional law, Chiechi fails to raise grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). First, giving the aggressor instruction did not cause Chiechi to suffer a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. Second, Chiechi did not suffer ineffective assistance of counsel.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly found Chiechi did not suffer a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

There was no error in giving the aggressor instruction, therefore Chiechi did not suffer a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. To raise a constitutional challenge for the first time on appeal "[t]he error must be 'manifest' and not a constitutional issue that the appellant *deliberately* chose not to litigate below." State v. Trout, 125 Wn. App. 313, 318, 103 P.3d 1278 (2005) (emphasis in original) (citing State v. Valladareas, 99 Wn.2d 663, 671-72, 664 P.2d 508 (1983); State v. Walton, 76 Wn. App. 364, 370, 884 P.2d 1348 (1994)). Having deliberately chosen not to litigate the issue at trial, Chiechi may not now raise the issue for the first time on appeal. First, the aggressor instruction did not relieve the State of its burden of proof or prevent Chiechi from arguing his theory of the case, thus even if in error, the error is not of constitutional magnitude. Second, as was obvious to the trial court, Chiechi's trial attorney, and the Court of Appeals, the evidence warranted giving of the aggressor instruction. Thus, there was no error, much less a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. Consequently, the Court of Appeals did not err in finding Chiechi could not bring the issue for the first time on appeal.

"[A]ppellate courts should determine on a case-by-case basis whether an unpreserved claim of error regarding a self-defense jury instruction constitutes a manifest constitutional error." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 101, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (abrogating *State v. LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d 896, 900, 913 P.2d 369 (1996)). "[A]n alleged error is manifest only if it results in a concrete detriment to the claimant's constitutional rights,

and the claimed error rests upon a plausible argument that is supported by the record." State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn.2d 595, 603, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999) (emphasis in original). "RAP 2.5(a)(3) is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining a new trial whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised in the trial court." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). "Without a showing that the defendant's rights were actually affected by the alleged constitutional error, the alleged error is not 'manifest' under RAP 2.5(a)(3), and the claimed error may not be raised for the first time on appeal." Id. at 338.

"Where relevant to the issue of whether a first aggressor instruction was properly given, the evidence is presented in the light most favorable to the State." *State v. Grott*, 195, Wn.2d 256, 260, 458 P.3d 750 (2020). "A court properly submits an aggressor instruction where (1) the jury can reasonably determine from the evidence that the defendant provoked the fight; (2) the evidence conflicts as to whether the defendant provoked the fight; or (3) the evidence shows the defendant made the first move by drawing a weapon." *State v. Anderson*, 144 Wn. App. 85, 89, 180 P.3d 885 (2008). "Each party at trial is entitled to have the trial court instruct upon its theory of the case if there is sufficient evidence to support the theory." *State v. Thompson*, 47 Wn. App. 1, 733 P.2d 584 (1987) (citing *State v. Theroff*, 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980)). "[A]n aggressor instruction

should be given where called for by the evidence." *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 910 n.2, 976 P.2d 624 (1999).

Recently in *Grott*, this Court provided clarification as to when giving the aggressor instruction entails a manifest error affecting a constitutional right that would permit it to be challenged for the first time on appeal. 195 Wn.2d at 260. The Court noted, "Because first aggressor instructions do not actually relieve the State of its burden of proof, erroneously given first aggressor instructions are not necessarily errors of constitutional magnitude." *Id.* at 268-69. "The jury was instructed on self-defense and Grott was not prevented from arguing that theory of the case." *Id.* at 269. The first aggressor instruction did not relieve the State of its burden of proof because it required the jury to "find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight." *Id.* at 269. "Thus, even if the first aggressor instruction was erroneously given, the error was not of constitutional magnitude." *Id.*

In addition to finding the instructions did not create an error of constitutional magnitude, this Court also reviewed the Court of Appeals' finding that Grott had suffered a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Id.* There was "substantial conflicting evidence of the shooting and the events leading up to it." *Id.* at 269-70 Additionally, there was some

testimony indicating the confrontation between Grott and the victim on the day of the shooting was provoked by Grott firing the first shots. *Id.* at 270.

The Court of Appeals erred in applying a bright-line rule rather than conducting a fact-specific inquiry while viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the party requesting the aggressor instruction. *See id.* at 273. Grott engaged in a "course of aggressive conduct" shooting and pausing to reload multiple times. *Id.* There was testimony that Grott fired before the victim was aware of his presence. *Id.* There was also evidence that during the shooting the victim was directly facing Grott and had a loaded gun with the safety off. *Id.*

This evidence permitted the jury to infer that after Grott began shooting, the victim turned to face Grott and pulled out a gun. Grott then had reasonable fear of imminent harm and continued to shoot in self-defense. *Id.* If the jury inferred that Grott provoked the need to defend himself by firing first, then it was proper to find self-defense was not legally available to him. *See id.* at 273-74. For this reason, the aggressor instruction was properly given. *Id.* at 274. Further, because the aggressor instruction was supported by the evidence, Grott's attorney was not ineffective because an objection to the instruction would have been overruled. *Id.*

Here, because the jury instructions did not relieve the State of its burden of proof, giving the aggressor instruction did not create an error of constitutional magnitude. The jury was instructed on self-defense. CP 77. Chiechi was not prevented from arguing his theory of the case. The aggressor instruction did not relieve the State of its burden of proof, because it required the jury to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight. CP 89. Accordingly, the State was required to prove the absence of lawful force by Chiechi beyond a reasonable doubt. The aggressor instruction merely informed the jury that one means of finding the absence of lawful use of force was to find Chiechi was the aggressor beyond a reasonable doubt. This did not relieve the State of its burden of proof. Thus, as in Grott, even if giving the aggressor instruction had been erroneous, it would not have been an error of constitutional magnitude. 195 Wn.2d at 269. Therefore, as the Court of Appeals found, Chiechi is not permitted to challenge this instruction for the first time on appeal.

Moreover, as in *Grott*, the evidence supported giving the instruction. 195 Wn.2d at 270. The Court of Appeals considered the specific facts of the case in reaching its conclusion that the instruction was supported by the evidence. According to testimony of both Saito and Bernard, Chiechi and Bernard's first fight ended. Bernard remained on the sidewalk and then

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